COA 45812-8

RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Feb 06, 2012, 7:54 am
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

No. 86150-1

**SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON**

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

ARTHUR WEST,

Appellant,

v.

CHRISTINE GREGOIRE, GOVERNOR, et al.,

Respondent

Appellant's Opening Brief

Stephanie M. R. Bird
Cushman Law Offices, P.S.
924 Capitol Way South
Olympia, WA 98501
206-812-3144
Attorneys for Appellant West

ORIGINAL

I. INTRODUCTION

There is no implied gubernatorial executive privilege grounded in the separation of powers under the Washington State Constitution, and no executive privilege to the Public Records Act (“PRA”, chapter 42.56 RCW) that the Trial Court found when it dismissed Arthur West’s PRA case against Governor Christine Gregoire. Governor Gregoire’s office argued, and the Trial Court concluded, that the gubernatorial executive privilege is grounded in the separation of powers under the Washington State Constitution. But our Constitution differs from those of the federal government and the other states that have found executive privilege.

The Governor argued that the executive privilege is necessary to “protect recommendations, advice, discussions, and deliberations involving the decision-making and policy-making functions for which the Governor is constitutionally responsible.” CP 1032. But the Governor did not argue that the office of the Governor had been harmed by the heretofore lack of gubernatorial executive privilege as an exemption to the PRA. Indeed, there has been no harm; our PRA has a lengthy and deliberate list of statutory exemptions, exemptions that already protect the functions of the Governor’s office. But the Governor, even while citing these ample statutory protections, asked the Trial Court – and is asking this Court – to graft on to our Constitution an unwritten constitutional

privilege that is unnecessary. “[W]e adhere to the fundamental principle that if a case can be decided on nonconstitutional grounds, an appellate court should refrain from deciding constitutional issues.” Washington State Farm Bureau Fed’n v. Gregoire, 162 Wn.2d 284, 322, 174 P.3d (2007) (citations omitted). “If [a constitutional provision] is too restrictive in its terms, that is a matter for the citizens of this state to correct through the amendatory process. It is not for this court to engraft an exception where none is expressed in the constitutional provision, no matter how desirable or expedient such an exception might seem.” State ex rel. O’Connell v. Port of Seattle, 65 Wn.2d 801, 806, 399 P.2d 623 (1965). This Court should decline to find the unwritten implied gubernatorial executive privilege in our Constitution.

But even if this Court finds an executive privilege implied in the separation of powers doctrine in our Constitution, and affirms the Trial Court in that respect, this Court should still overrule the manner in which the Trial Court applied executive privilege to the PRA. The Trial Court did not so much apply executive privilege as an *exception to* the PRA, but as a *trump of* the PRA. The Trial Court’s dismissal of Mr. West’s action means that when the Governor asserts executive privilege, none of the procedures of the PRA apply. The Governor was not held accountable for taking an unreasonably long time to produce an exemption log and the

records for which she was waiving executive privilege, or for silently withholding records for which she is claiming or could claim executive privilege, and there was no determination of whether the Governor's search for records was reasonable. Finally, as to the records that were responsive to Mr. West's request as having been previously withheld under color of a claim of executive privilege, for which the Governor was no longer asserting executive privilege, but was asserting an enumerated statutory exemption to the Public Records Act – the Trial Court's dismissal of Mr. West's case means that the Governor does not need to bear what would otherwise be her statutory burden of proof to show that the claimed exemptions apply.

Furthermore, by dismissing Mr. West's case as early as the Trial Court did – at a hearing when the Trial Court denied Mr. West's motion for an order to show cause – the Trial Court denied Mr. West the opportunity to test the “three-part test adopted in federal and state cases for assessing presidential and gubernatorial executive privilege” that the Trial Court concluded was “wholly incorporated into the PRA” in defining the gubernatorial executive privilege exemption. This was error, and it was error to adopt the three-part test, contrary to our caselaw and our statutory procedural safeguards in our PRA.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

A. The Trial Court erred in finding an implied constitutional privilege grounded in the doctrine of separation of powers as an exemption to the PRA. *Does "other statute" mean "other law"; is there implied "executive privilege" in Washington's separation of powers?; does the PRA violate the separation of powers doctrine? No.*

B. Alternatively, the Trial Court erred in grafting an unwritten executive privilege onto Washington's Constitution out of necessary implication. *Do the statutory protections already codified in the PRA adequately protect the functioning of the Governor's office? Yes.*

C. Alternatively, the Trial Court erred in applying executive privilege as a trump to the PRA rather than as an exemption. *Did the Trial Court err in dismissing Mr. West's PRA claims upon holding the Governor could claim executive privilege, without reaching the Governor's violations of the PRA?; was there insufficient evidence supporting the Trial Court's findings of facts 2, 3, and 8¹; did the Trial Court err in denying Mr. West the opportunity to "test" the three-part test; did the Trial Court err in adopting the three-part test, which conflicts with the PRA? Yes.*

¹ For full text see Appendix A.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case involves a public records request made to defendant and respondent Governor Christine Gregoire, where plaintiff and appellant Arthur West requested specific identifiable public records that had been withheld from other requesters under claim of executive privilege.

Mr. West is no stranger to Public Records Act (“PRA”; chapter 42.56 RCW) litigation; he has filed multiple PRA lawsuits, resulting in precedent-setting cases, including West v. Port of Olympia, 146 Wn. App. 108, 192 P.3d 926 (2008) (limitations on applications of deliberative process exemption to PRA) and West v. Thurston County, 144 Wn. App. 573, 183 P.3d 346 (2008) (retroactive application of amendment to PRA concerning attorney billing invoices for legal services provided to public entities). He has also set precedent outside the PRA; *see, e.g., West v. Washington Association of County Officials*, 162 Wn. App. 120, 252 P.3d 406 (2011) (WACO was a public agency for purposes of the Open Public Meetings Act) and West v. Secretary of Transportation, 206 F.3d 920 (9th Cir. 2000) (under NEPA, agency could not approve highway interchange construction project using categorical exclusion). Mr. West describes himself as an environmental activist and an advocate for open government. He works to hold government accountable to its citizens.

The public records request at issue here was hand-delivered by Mr. West to Governor Gregoire's office on January 19, 2010. CP 569. His request sought, "under RCW 42.56, for disclosure of all of the records currently being withheld from public disclosure by the office of the Governor under color [of] a claim of executive privilege, from 2007 to present, to include all 35 requested described in the [Evergreen Freedom Foundation] policy letter of January 13, [2010], (attached)." CP 569. The EFF policy highlighter that Mr. West attached to his request stated "Since 2007, Governor Gregoire's office has asserted 'executive privilege' 421 times in response to 35 records requests. This privilege has been cited to withhold records concerning the state's tribal gambling compact, the sale and departure of the Seattle Sonics, the selection and appointment of judges, the state's regulation of marijuana, clemency petitions of death-row inmates, and state employees' public email accounts." CP 560.

On January 25, less than five business days after Mr. West's request, Melynda Campbell of the Governor's office responded to Mr. West's request. CP 602. Her letter estimated that it would take her approximately three to four weeks to retrieve the public request files that had been archived and "review, number and provide any documents that may be released." CP 602. After this initial letter, Mr. West heard nothing more from the Governor's office for eight months.

On September 24, Mr. West filed his complaint,¹ alleging PRA violations, that the Governor “failed to promptly respond or disclose relevant records,” and “has wrongfully asserted an executive privilege exemption when none exists under the Public Disclosure Act and no colorable claim of any such exemption can be made under existing precedent for the records at issue, and has failed to produce the requested records in a reasonably timely manner.” CP 5. Mr. West sought declaratory rulings that the Governor failed to reasonably disclose public records and that an executive privilege exemption does not apply to the PRA, and requested that the Governor be required to disclose the records and an award of costs and per diem penalties. CP 6. Mr. West, a pro se plaintiff at the time, properly sought no award of attorney fees. Mr. West served the Governor’s office with his summons and complaint on September 13, before he filed his lawsuit with the court. CP 566; CP 599.

Now, the Governor’s Office maintains that prior to being served with Mr. West’s lawsuit, it “produced the records to Mr. West for

¹ This was not the first time that Mr. West attempted to challenge Governor Gregoire’s assertion of executive privilege in response to a public records request. Mr. West had filed two earlier lawsuits, West v. Eymann (Thurston County Superior Court Cause No. 10-2-01393-5) and West v. Gregoire (Thurston County Superior Court Cause No. 10-2-00063-9), where he had obtained orders directing the Governor’s office to appear and show cause why it should not be found to be in violation of the PR. CP 632-36. However, the claims in both lawsuits were dismissed.

inspection or copying on September 3, 2010.” CP 566. Ms. Campbell declared “I informed Mr. West in a letter of that date that the records were available for him to review in-person or copies could be mailed to him once he remitted the copying charges.” CP 566; CP 597. However, even though Ms. Campbell wrote, printed, and signed her letter (CP 597) on September 3, it is likely that through some oversight, the letter was not actually mailed to Mr. West; there is no declaration of mailing or record of transmission. Mr. West did not receive any September 3 letter.

“Subsequent to the filing of the suit, you know, several months later, they came up with a September 3rd letter. That letter I never received. I never received an email on that date despite the fact that that was the traditional manner that Ms. Campbell communicated with me in previous requests.” RP at 8, ll. 4-10 (June 23, 2011).

The letter that Mr. West *did* receive was dated, printed, and signed by Ms. Campbell on September 27. CP 13. It is virtually the same letter that Ms. Campbell wrote, printed, and signed on September 3 (*see, e.g.*, the last paragraph, “Please bear in mind that the office will be closed on Monday, September 6, 2010 for Labor Day and on Tuesday, September 7, 2010, for a temporary layoff day due to state budget cuts,” which paragraph was out-of-date in a letter dated September 27). There are two differences between the two letters. One is the copy fee: in the September

27 letter, Ms. Campbell informed Mr. West that the copy fee was \$71.10, but in the September 3 letter, the copy fee is \$70.80. *Cf.* CP 13 and CP 597. The other difference is in the number of pages: in the September 27 letter, Ms. Campbell informed Mr. West that the number of pages was 474, in the September 3 letter, it is 472. *Cf.* CP 13 and CP 597.

Though the record does not reflect what happened, on the morning of September 27, not having heard from the Governor's office, Mr. West called to find out the status of his public records request. Over the phone, he was informed that public records responsive to his request were available and ready to be picked up. On that same day, September 27, Mr. West visited the office. He paid \$71.10 (the copy fee mentioned in the September 27 letter). CP 601. He was given the September 27 letter (CP 13), an exemption log (CP 567; CP 575-95) and 474 pages of responsive records (CP 47-519).

Ms. Campbell also had ready a letter to Mr. West dated September 27 from Ms. Narda Pierce, General Counsel (CP 603-04), which stated "You have requested disclosure of specific pages of documents that were withheld in prior public records requests by other requesters. We have researched our records to determine whether any of these documents have been subsequently released. We determined that documents were released to the original requester subsequent to the initial response in the public

records requests numbered 2007-27, 2009-44 and 2009-48. Therefore, those documents are currently available for your review.” CP 603. Even though Ms. Campbell had Ms. Pierce’s letter ready, the letter was not given to Mr. West when he visited the office. Instead, Ms. Campbell mailed it to Mr. West on September 29. CP 606; CP 567.

The exemption log that the Governor’s office produced to Mr. West on September 27 claimed privileges for 72 records. CP 575-595. Of these records, the Governor’s office asserted “Executive Privilege” as the sole claimed exemption for 33 separate records. CP 575-595; CP 610. The other exemptions that the Governor’s office asserted for the other records included RCW 42.56.250(2) (applications for public employment) (CP 576-78; CP 582; CP 584; CP 589; CP 594-95); RCW 42.56.280 (deliberative process) (CP 579; CP 582; CP 590; CP 591-94); RCW 5.60.060(2) (attorney-client privilege) (CP 583; 587-88; CP 590; CP 595); 42 USC 405(c)(2)(vii)(1) and/or 5 USC 552(a) (Social Security Number) (CP 586); RCW 42.56.290 (agency party to controversy; work product) (CP 593); and RCW 42.56.270 (financial, commercial and proprietary information) (CP 594). There were 6 separate records where the Governor *did not assert executive privilege at all*, but claimed one or more exemptions to the PRA (RCW 42.56.250(2), 42 USC 405(c)(2)(vii)(1) and/or 5 USC 552(a), RCW 42.56.270, and RCW 42.56.280). CP 584,

586, and 594. Presumably, the Governor had at one point asserted executive privilege as to these 6 records but had later waived executive privilege while asserting some other exemption, since otherwise they would not have been responsive to Mr. West's request.

The records disclosed in the exemption log were divided into two categories: "2008 Public Record Request documents" (CP 575) and "2007 Public Record Request documents" (CP 584). Recall that Mr. West's request sought documents which had previously been withheld from PRA requestors under claim of executive privilege from 2007 on. If there were any such public records requests in 2009 or early 2010 *and* the Governor had not waived the formerly-asserted privilege and produced all responsive previously-withheld documents to Mr. West, then the Governor's office did not disclose those still-withheld records.

("Disclosure" means communicating the existence of the records, either through inclusion in an exemption log or through actual production).

Since Mr. West had sought identifiable public records (those which had been withheld previously under claim of executive privilege), if the Governor was still withholding records, that would lead to an inference that the Governor had failed to make a reasonable search.

On March 7, 2011, Mr. West filed a Motion for a Show Cause Order, seeking an order compelling the Governor to appear and show

cause why she should not be “found to be in violation of the Public Records act for failing to produce records in a reasonable time, for failing to produce an exemption log citing to an actual exemption to disclosure recognized under RCW 42.56, and for failing to produce public records in response to plaintiff’s request.” CP 11-12. The Governor filed a Response, CP 1024-1045, and both sides filed declarations. On May 6, a hearing was held in front of the Honorable Gary R. Tabor, where the matter was continued to June 17 and the parties were allowed to each file a supplemental brief. CP 637.

After both supplemental briefs were filed, Ms. Pierce filed her second declaration. In Ms. Pierce’s declaration, she explained that the Governor’s office had overlooked hundreds of pages of records that had been withheld by the Governor from public records request responses to Luke Esser, Chairman of the Washington State Republican Party, on the basis of the Governor’s assertion of executive privilege, and had neither produced nor disclosed the records to Mr. West. CP 664; *see also* footnote at CP 565. This leads to the inference that the Governor failed to make a reasonable search. The requests made by Mr. Esser were dated late 2007 and early 2008. CP 663. For roughly three hundred of these pages, the Governor chose to waive her assertion of executive privilege,

and the Governor's office produced those records to Mr. West on June 9.
CP 64; CP 697; CP 701-997.

For other of the withheld records, the Governor's office chose not to produce them, but disclosed their existence in a second exemption log. CP 667-96. "Exemptions are being asserted as to 93 records, as outlined on the attached exemption log. Of that total, executive privilege is being asserted as an exemption on 67 records, although only as to 15 records is executive privilege the only basis for an exemption." CP 664. There are 26 records for which the Governor was *not* asserting executive privilege (although presumably executive privilege was asserted for those records sometime in the past; otherwise they would not have been responsive).

This second exemption log groups the withheld documents into one category: "2008 Esser Public Record Requests documents." The exemptions are: RCW 42.56.250(2) (applications for public employment) (CP 667-73; CP 691; CP 696); RCW 42.56.250(3) (personal information redacted for state employees) (CP 669; CP 671); RCW 42.56.290 (controversy to which the agency is a party, work product) (CP 672-74; CP 679-89; CP 692-95); RCW 42.56.280 or deliberative process (CP 674-675; CP 677-78; CP 686; CP 688-90; CP 693-96); RCW 5.60.060(2)(a) (attorney-client privilege) (CP 674; CP 679-84; CP 686-89; CP 691-95); and RCW 82.32.330(1)(c) (disclosure of tax information) (CP 676).

As for the 26 records that were disclosed in the exemption log but for which the Governor did not claim executive privilege, the exemptions claimed include RCW 42.56.250(3) (personal information redacted for state employee); RCW 42.56.250(2) (applications for public employment); RCW 42.56.290 (work product); RCW 82.32.330(1)(c) (disclosure of tax information); RCW 5.60.060(2)(a) (attorney-client privilege); and RCW 42.56.280 (deliberative process) CP 669; CP 670; CP 672-74; CP 676; CP 679-88; and CP 690-92.

On June 17, at the hearing on Mr. West's motion for an order to show cause, Mr. West presented argument as to executive privilege and the PRA, and requested an order to show cause. Counsel for the Governor responded in opposition and requested that the motion for order to show cause be denied. The Trial Court stated that it did not find that Mr. West met his burden, and that therefore the State – the Governor – would prevail. The Trial Court dismissed Mr. West's action on the basis that the Governor might assert executive privilege as an exemption to the PRA, and adopted the three-part test suggested by the Governor for assessing gubernatorial executive privilege. CP 998; 1007.

In dismissing Mr. West's case, the Trial Court did not reach the issue of whether the Governor had violated the PRA by failing to produce the records for which the Governor was waiving the claim of executive

privilege in a reasonable time, failing to provide an exemption log in a reasonable time, nor yet whether any other exemptions applied to the records for which the Governor was *not* asserting executive privilege, whether the Governor had made a reasonable search, or whether the Governor was still withholding records. And in dismissing Mr. West's case, the Trial Court did not let Mr. West "test" the three-part test.

Mr. West submitted a proposed order. CP 1001-02. The Governor submitted a proposed order, which the Court signed. CP 1003; CP 1004-09. The order signed by the Court contained, among other Conclusions of Law, "The only issue before the Court is whether the Governor may assert a gubernatorial executive privilege, grounded in the separation of powers under the Washington State Constitution, as an exemption under the PRA." Mr. West moved the Court for reconsideration, which was denied. CP 1022. Mr. West timely appealed to this Court. CP 999-1002.

IV. ARGUMENT

"Our broad PRA exists to ensure that the public maintains control over their government, and we will not deny our citizenry access to a whole class of possibly important government information." O'Neill v. City of Shoreline, 170 Wn.2d 138, 147 240 P.3d 1149 (2010). In concluding that the Governor may assert executive privilege, grounded in

the separation of powers under the Washington State Constitution, as an exemption under the PRA, the Trial Court denied our citizenry access to a whole class of possibly important government information.

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