COA 45812-8

RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Mar 07, 2012, 3:46 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

NO. 86150-1

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ARTHUR WEST,

Appellant,

v.

CHRISTINE O. GREGOIRE, in her official capacity as Governor of the State of Washington,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ROBERT M. MCKENNA Attorney General

CHRISTINA BEUSCH
Deputy Attorney General
WSBA No. 18226
ALAN D. COPSEY
Deputy Solicitor General
WSBA No. 23305
Office of the Attorney General
PO Box 40100
Olympia, WA 98504-0100
(360) 664-3801

ORIGINAL

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

This case is not about the constitutionality of the PRA. It is not necessary to read the PRA in conflict with the constitution when the Act itself recognizes and respects other laws that govern disclosure. In *Ameriquest*, this Court recognized that a preemption analysis was unnecessary because the "other statute" provision in RCW 42.56.070(1) accommodated the federal exemptions that otherwise would conflict with the PRA. *Ameriquest*, 170 Wn.2d at 439-40. The same principle allows the Court to avoid creating any doubt as to the Act's constitutionality by recognizing that constitutional exemptions and privileges also are

²⁵ An objection to implied constitutional privileges, if accepted, would implicate other implied privileges. For example, as noted above, the Washington Constitution provides no explicit privilege protecting the confidentiality of judicial deliberations and judges' notes, even though such a privilege is recognized as necessary to the judicial function. See, e.g., Beuhler, 115 Wn. App. at 919-20; In re Certain Complaints, 783 F.2d at 1519-20; Thomas, 361 Ill. App. 3d at 490-91.

incorporated in RCW 42.56.070(1).

The PRA is not absolute—it explicitly recognizes that many categories of public records and information should not be produced automatically upon request. The governor is not challenging the validity of the Act or seeking to set it aside. Rather, the governor asserts a qualified constitutional privilege that has been recognized across the country and contends that privilege should be recognized as an exemption under the "other statute" provision of the PRA. This Court should hold that a qualified gubernatorial executive privilege constitutes an exemption to the Public Records Act, incorporated through RCW 42.56.070(1).

1. The Three-Part Test Articulated In The Cases Is Part Of The Qualified Executive Privilege

The governor is asserting a qualified executive privilege, not an absolute privilege. The privilege is qualified because its application is subject to judicial review and it can be limited where the court determines there is a demonstrated, particularized need for access to specific documents that outweighs the constitutional and public interests in maintaining the privilege. That determination is made using a three-part

Mr. West quotes *Fritz v. Gorton*, 83 Wn.2d 275, 517 P.2d 911 (1974), regarding the "fundamental" character of the public's right to receive information. Brief at 26. That case addressed the right to receive information generally as a necessary counterpart of the First Amendment right to free speech; it did not hold that the First Amendment grants a right to receive *all* information held by any particular source, including government. Indeed, *Fritz* acknowledged constitutional limitations, holding that the challenged section of the campaign disclosure law did "not sweep so broadly as to be constitutionally impermissible." *Fritz*, 83 Wn.2d at 299.

test established by the U.S. Supreme Court as part of the privilege. See In re Sealed Case, 121 F.3d 729, 744-46 (D.C. Cir. 1997) (explaining contours of the privilege). Every state court that has recognized a parallel gubernatorial executive privilege resting on state constitutional separation of powers has adopted the three-part test as part of the privilege. See Doe, 721 P.2d at 626; Guy, 659 A.2d at 782-85; Hamilton, 287 Md. at 562-67; Wilson v. Brown, 404 N.J. Super. 557, 574-81, 962 A.2d 1122 (App. Div. 2009); Dann I, 109 Ohio St. 3d at 377-79; Killington, 153 Vt. at 637-41. The test is applied as follows.

Step One. In response to a request for records, the governor must assert the privilege with some degree of specificity, identifying the records for which the privilege is asserted and briefly explaining why each record falls within the privilege (without, of course, revealing the information that is privileged). See Doe, 721 P.2d at 626; Dann I, 109 Ohio St. 3d at 378. If the reasons given indicate on their face that the records fall within the privilege, the records are presumptively protected by executive privilege. Hamilton, 287 Md. at 563-64, citing Nixon, 418 U.S. at 708, 713-14; Dann I, 109 Ohio St. 3d at 378. Because in camera review intrudes on the governor's executive powers, implicating separation of powers concerns, a court should refrain from in camera review unless there is a specific reason supporting such review. Hamilton,

287 Md. at 566, citing *Nixon*, 418 U.S. at 713-14; *Wilson*, 404 N.J. Super. at 574.

Step Two. The requester can overcome the presumption by demonstrating a particular need for the specific documents requested and providing a reasoned explanation why that need outweighs the constitutional and public interests served by executive privilege. *Doe*, 721 P.2d at 626; *Dann* I, 109 Ohio St. 3d at 378; *Killington*, 153 Vt. at 639; *Guy*, 659 A.2d at 785. If no such showing is made, the inquiry is at an end, the presumption has not been overcome, and the documents are not subject to in camera review. *Doe*, 721 P.2d at 626; *Hamilton*, 287 Md. at 563-64, citing *Nixon*, 418 U.S. at 713-14; *Dann* I, 109 Ohio St. 3d at 379; *Killington*, 153 Vt. at 639; *Guy*, 659 A.2d at 785; *Wilson*, 404 N.J. Super at 574.²⁷

The requirement that a requester demonstrate a particularized need is derived from the constitutional underpinnings of the executive privilege.

A person who seeks the court's assistance to obtain documents for which

three of the test in two circumstances: (1) in criminal cases, where "the very integrity of the judicial system and public confidence in the system depend on full disclosure of all the facts," such that the legitimate need of disclosure outweighs a generalized claim of public interest in the confidentiality of gubernatorial communications, *Guy*, 659 A.2d at 785, quoting *Nixon*, 418 U.S. at 709; *accord Hamilton*, 287 Md. at 563-64; and (2) in some civil cases, notably cases alleging governmental wrongdoing where the information sought is essential evidence, *Hamilton*, 287 Md. at 563-64; *Killington*, 153 Vt. at 638. A vaguely defined specter of misconduct is insufficient, as is a general assertion of a need for full disclosure of the basis for governmental decisionmaking. *Wilson*, 404 N.J. Super. at 579, citing *Nero*, 76 N.J. at 216-17.

the governor has asserted executive privilege is asking one branch of government, the courts, to compel a co-equal branch, the governor, to yield power constitutionally granted to the executive. Respect for the governor's independent constitutional role deserves judicial respect for a properly asserted executive privilege.

Step Three. If the court finds the requester has demonstrated a specific, particularized need for the documents that could outweigh the constitutional and public interests served by executive privilege, the court then should determine (1) whether the demonstrated need in fact outweighs the constitutional and public interest in the privilege; and (2) if so, which portions of the documents should be produced and whether conditions should be imposed on the use of the documents. *In re Sealed Case*, 121 F.3d at 742; *Killington*, 153 Vt. at 637-39; *Dann* I, 109 Ohio St. 3d at 378-79. In making this determination, the court may review the records in camera. *Doe*, 721 P.2d at 626; *Hamilton*, 287 Md. at 567.²⁸

In Killington, 153 Vt. at 638-39, the court rejected the argument that the three-part test should not be used when records are requested under the Vermont Access to Public Records statute, which (like our PRA)

In *Killington*, a public records case, the court explained that in camera inspection may not amount to full disclosure, but in a given case, it can irrevocably sacrifice the interest sought to be protected by exercise of executive privilege, even if the court decides that the interest in confidentiality outweighs the need for disclosure. *Killington*, 153 Vt. at 639-40, citing *Hamilton*, 287 Md. at 566. The governor should have the opportunity to demonstrate that in camera inspection would compromise the fundamental interests of the executive branch. *Killington*, 153 Vt. at 640.

places the burden of demonstrating an exemption on the agency asserting the exemption:

The function and meaning of the privilege would be markedly altered if necessity for the information were to be presumed and the burden of overcoming the presumption of necessity were to be placed on the claimant of the privilege. The requirement that a person seeking disclosure first demonstrate need before obtaining the right to in camera inspection by the court is an essential part of the privilege itself, not a corollary procedure annexed to the privilege.

Id. at 639. Accord Guy, 659 A.2d at 785.

2. The Three-Part Test Is Consistent With The PRA

As explained above, the three-part test is not an adjunct to executive privilege—it is an essential part of the privilege, grounded in separation of powers and judicial respect for a coequal branch of government, and it is the means through which the privilege is limited to accommodate competing constitutional interests. As this Court recognized in *Ameriquest*, when an exemption is incorporated into the PRA, it is incorporated in its entirety, even though some element of the exemption may displace some express requirement of the PRA. *Ameriquest*, 170 Wn.2d at 435-36 (federal rule that prohibited "third party" from publicly disclosing protected information did not permit state agency to apply redaction requirement in RCW 42.56.210, when the federal rule was incorporated as a PRA exemption under the "other statute" provision in RCW 42.56.070(1)). Even so, the three-part test

applied to a gubernatorial executive privilege claim is consistent with the PRA's essential procedural requirements.

The first step of the three-part test imposes similar requirements. As explained above, the governor bears the burden of properly asserting the privilege. She must make it clear she is asserting that privilege, identify the records for which the privilege is asserted, and explain why each record falls within the privilege. While a presumption attaches to a claim of executive privilege, that presumption can be overcome. It is true that a requester claiming the privilege has been improperly asserted must do more than file an action and summarily claim a violation. But, as explained above, that extra requirement is justified by the constitutional interest in having courts respect the governor's independent constitutional role as a co-equal branch in our system of divided government.

In steps two and three of the test, the requester is not challenging whether the privilege was properly asserted for the records at issue; rather, the requester is seeking production of records *even though* they are protected by the privilege. No conflict with the PRA results from requiring the requester to demonstrate a particular need for documents protected by executive privilege, because that burden is applied only after the applicability of the privilege has been conceded or established. The burden properly falls on the requester who is seeking to convince the court

that documents protected by executive privilege nevertheless should be produced.

The PRA authorizes but does not mandate in camera review. RCW 42.56.550(3). No conflict with the PRA arises from asking a court, as a matter of judicial restraint in respect of constitutional separation of powers, to delay in camera review until it is necessary and appropriate. Where the governor has properly asserted executive privilege, the court is giving appropriate respect to a co-equal branch of government by declining to conduct in camera review unless the requester demonstrates countervailing need and interests sufficient to justify review.

3. The Three Part Test Does Not Shield The Governor From Public Accountability

Judicial recognition of a qualified executive privilege does not public view—it protects from governor's actions shield the deliberations where and discussions, recommendations, advice. confidentiality is necessary to ensure the integrity of the governor's Its purpose is to allow effective decisionmaking and policymaking. decisionmaking and policymaking by preserving the governor's access to candid advice, multiple perspectives and recommendations, and frank discussion. See Cox, 122 U. Pa. L. Rev. at 1410; Nixon, 418 U.S. at 708; Dann I, 109 Ohio St. 3d at 376-77; Doe, 721 P.2d at 624-25. And, as in Nixon and the state cases that follow it, the privilege does not bar a court, upon a proper showing, from ordering the production of documents alleged to reflect unlawful conduct by the governor or her staff. See Hamilton, 287 Md. at 563-64; Killington, 153 Vt. at 638.

Moreover, the PRA is not the only means of ensuring accountability to the public. While it is an important means, it should be recognized that the governor is not an official working out of the public view, whose actions and decisions may be publicly known only because of the PRA. Indeed, no state officer has higher public visibility and more direct accountability to voters than the governor. The governor remains accountable to the electorate for the decisions and policies she makes—or does not make.

C. The Governor Having Asserted Executive Privilege With Specificity, There Is No Other Issue Preserved For Appellate Review

The governor made the requisite showing to establish that the withheld records and information are presumptively protected by executive privilege. In responding to Mr. West, the governor explicitly asserted executive privilege as the basis for withholding or redacting documents and information that were not provided. Both exemption logs describe the nature of the records and provide the context and reason for the claim of the exemption. CP 575-95, 667-96. The Counsel to the

Governor summarized the careful, diligent process used to reassess each requested document to determine whether the privilege should continue to be asserted. CP at 607-10, 664-65. Mr. West's objection in essence is simply that he or the trial court should reweigh the careful analysis and policy judgments that the governor and her counsel have made. The trial court correctly determined that Mr. West's general objections did not overcome the showing the governor made that the claims of executive privilege were specific and limited to communications made to, from, or for the consideration of the governor in the exercise of her constitutional role as the chief executive officer.

The only issue that Mr. West properly raised below is whether there exists a gubernatorial executive privilege as an exemption to the PRA. Indeed, Mr. West filed this case knowing only that certain records would be denied to him but not having arranged to inspect or copy the records or the exemption log.²⁹ He filed the case without having retrieved a single requested record. Mr. West's briefing filed on April 20, 2011,

²⁹ Mr. West now asserts he never received the September 3, 2010, notification letter sent to his mailing address by Ms. Campbell. Brief at 8. He is asking the Court to accept that just two to three weeks after Ms. Campbell sent her letter, he just happened to serve and file a lawsuit alleging the governor wrongfully asserted executive privilege as an exemption to his request under the PRA without any knowledge that records and exemption log were ready for inspection or copying. Moreover, again without any prompting or knowledge that records were available, he telephoned and/or appeared at the Governor's officer on September 27, 2011, to pick up said records. There is no reason to believe that Mr. West did not receive the letter and his actions imply that in fact he did. The superior court could reasonably and properly rely on Ms. Campbell's declaration, the letter itself, and Mr. West's actions to find that Mr. West was notified.

and June 2, 2011, address solely the legal issue of whether the privilege exists in Washington. He asked for a declaratory ruling that Washington does not recognize executive privilege as an exemption to the PRA, for the production of all records being withheld on that basis, and sanctions.

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